Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the EXECUTIVE will be held in David Hicks 1 Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham RG40 1BN, on
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 AT 7.30 PM

Susan Parsonage
Chief Executive
Published on 23 October 2019

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities
Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services

The Underpinning Principles
Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel
efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE EXECUTIVE
John Halsall
John Kaiser
Parry Batth
UllaKarin Clark
Charlotte Haitham Taylor
Pauline Jorgensen
Charles Margetts
Stuart Munro
Gregor Murray
Wayne Smith

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Finance and Housing
Environment and Leisure
Children's Services
Regeneration
Highways and Transport
Health, Wellbeing and Adult Services
Business and Economic Development
Climate Emergency
Planning and Enforcement

SUBJECT

42.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence

43.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Executive Meeting held
on 26 September 2019.

44.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

45.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of the Executive
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

45.1

Wescott

David Davies has asked the Leader of the Council the
following question:
Question
There had been a commitment to install CCTV in
Wokingham Town centre to deter and catch those
causing the recent rise in anti-social behaviour. Please
could the Leader of the Council inform when we can

PAGE
NO.

7 - 22

expect the installation of CCTV in the town centre?
45.2

None Specific

Philip Meadowcroft has asked the Leader of the
Council the following question:
Question
At the September 26 Executive meeting I expressed
concern about the 300+ redactions in the Lingard
Report. However, I was encouraged that, on October
10, WBC reinstated eleven redacted paragraphs “in
the public interest”.
Some of these paragraphs reveal the differences of
opinion between Councillors and Planning and Legal
Officials with you, Councillor Halsall, questioning the
wisdom and usefulness of any further legal action
against HHS beyond the injunctive relief WBC had
obtained. However, the hawkish approach of the
Planning and Legal Officials prevailed. We now know
it is the differences of opinion between Councillors and
Officers which the original redactions were meant to be
kept secret – not the protection of personal data which
you, as the Leader of the Council, misleadingly stated
at the September Executive meeting.
WBC’s approach to legal proceedings was heavily
criticised by the Court of Appeal (Criminal Division)
including WBC’s attitude towards POCA (Proceeds of
Crime Act).
As HHS now seeks to rebuild its
business lawfully, it is incumbent on WBC to act, and
be seen to act, fairly and justly in determining any and
every HHS planning application.
What changes of staff and process does WBC believe
are now necessary in order to demonstrate the
openness and transparency of WBC’s operations
which the Chief Executive believes are central to
WBC’s work for its council taxpayers?

46.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions submitted under Notice
Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time will
be dealt with in a written reply

46.1

None Specific

Paul Fishwick has asked the Executive Member for
Climate Emergency the following question:
Question
I understand that Client Earth has written to 100
English local authorities that are developing a Local
Plan, including Wokingham Borough Council to explain
how they intend to respond to the national target of net
zero by 2050. Each authority must give a credible path
to achieving net zero emissions by setting robust
carbon reduction targets and integrating them
throughout the Local Plan.
A deadline date to respond of 28th October 2019 has
been given and any plan that fails to demonstrate
consistency with robust local targets will be unlawful
and at risk of legal challenge.
What has Wokingham Borough Council submitted to
Client Earth?

46.2

None Specific

Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey has asked the Executive
Member for Climate Emergency the following question:
Question
If we are actually acting on the climate change
emergency and not just saying we are then which
Council buildings are we putting solar panels on and
when will they be installed?

46.3

None Specific

Lindsay Ferris has asked the Executive Member for
Environment and Leisure the following question:
Question
There has been a significant increase in the number of
fly tipping events in the recent past. My understanding
is that it now exceeds 1100 such events.
Can you advise what the cost to the Council has been
associated with clearing these fly tipping incidents?

46.4

Wescott

Caroline Smith has asked the Executive Member for
Regeneration the following question:
Question
With the recent closure of Denmark Street Car Park
and the lack of footfall, is the Council going to
implement some incentives to increase footfall to the
town, especially since the near completion of
regeneration and encouraging new retailers?

Matters for Consideration
47.

None Specific

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT
FY2019/20 - QUARTER 2

23 - 36

48.

None Specific

CAPITAL MONITORING 2019/20 - END OF
SEPTEMBER 2019

37 - 44

49.

Wescott

PEACH PLACE REDEVELOPMENT - PAYMENT OF
INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRIBUTIONS

45 - 52

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The Executive may exclude the press and public in order to discuss the Part 2
sheets of Agenda Item 49 above and to do so it must pass a resolution in the
following terms:
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act (as amended) as appropriate.

A decision sheet will be available for inspection at the Council’s offices (in Democratic
Services and the General Office) and on the web site no later than two working days after
the meeting.
CONTACT OFFICER
Anne Hunter
Tel
Email
Postal Address

Democratic and Electoral Services Lead Specialist
0118 974 6051
anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 43.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE EXECUTIVE
HELD ON 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 FROM 7.30 PM TO 8.17 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: John Halsall (Chairman), John Kaiser, Parry Batth, UllaKarin Clark,
Charlotte Haitham Taylor, Pauline Jorgensen, Charles Margetts, Stuart Munro,
Gregor Murray and Wayne Smith
Other Councillors Present
Stephen Conway
Gary Cowan
Andy Croy
Lindsay Ferris
Graham Howe
Clive Jones
Malcolm Richards
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey
33.
APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence received.
34.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 25 July 2019 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Leader of Council.
35.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Councillor UllaKarin Clark declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 38, Shareholders’
Report, by virtue of the fact that she was an unpaid Non-Executive Director of Loddon
Homes Ltd. Councillor Clark remained in the meeting during discussions and voted on the
matter.
Councillors John Halsall, Stuart Munro and Wayne Smith declared personal interests in
Agenda Item 38, Shareholders’ Report, by virtue of the fact that they were unpaid NonExecutive Directors of WBC (Holdings) Ltd. Councillors Halsall, Munro and Smith
remained in the meeting during discussions and voted on the matter.
Councillor John Kaiser declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 38, Shareholders’
Report, by virtue of the fact that he was an unpaid Non-Executive Director of Optalis
(Holdings) Ltd, WBC (Holdings) Ltd and Berry Brook Homes Ltd. Councillor Kaiser
remained in the meeting during discussions and voted on the matter.
Councillor Charles Margetts declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 38, Shareholders’
Report, by virtue of the fact that he was an unpaid Non-Executive Director of Optalis
(Holdings) Ltd. Councillor Margetts remained in the meeting during discussions and voted
on the matter.
36.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chairman invited members of the public to
submit questions to the appropriate Members.

7

36.1 Philip Meadowcroft asked the Leader of the Council the following question:
Question
The Lingard Report, (which WBC has decided not to place on its website, but is available
to anyone who contacts WBC), was ordered by the previous Leader of the Council
following the Court of Appeal Criminal Division’s decision to uphold the decision of
Reading Crown Court to halt the HHS breach of enforcement trial. In the opinion of the
Reading Crown Court Judge, particular WBC Councillors and officials had committed
abuse of power in the course of bringing the case to Reading Crown Court rendering the
case against HHS “unfair and unjust”. The trial accordingly collapsed.
In her summing up at the Court of Appeal Criminal Division hearing into WBC’s appeal
against the decision of Reading Crown Court, Lady Justice Hallett declared:
“[The Reading Crown Court] Judge’s finding that WBC had induced Mr Scott to act to his
detriment and then taken advantage of the situation, in our view, must stand.”
This finding of fact had been established at Reading and confirmed by the Court of Appeal.
Only a successful appeal by WBC to the Supreme Court could overturn the Reading
Crown Court and the Court of Appeal. Such an appeal has not been made by WBC.
The terms of reference for the Lingard investigation were to assess whether, in the light of
the two courts’ decisions, particular Councillors, including the current Leader and Deputy
Leader, and particular Officials were guilty of maladministration. Additionally, Mr Lingard
was invited by WBC to review various issues including the judgements of Reading Crown
Court and the Court of Appeal.
The Lingard Report has openly, disrespectfully, and unlawfully challenged and rejected the
opinions of both the Crown Court and the Court of Appeal. Lingard has declared that the
courts were wrong to find that WBC unjustly and unfairly induced Mr Scott to withdraw a
crucial appeal. Lingard has said that the courts had based their conclusions on
“supposition and a lack of clear evidence”. It is simply not permissible for Lingard to
challenge and discredit the courts’ rulings. As a result, the Lingard report has discredited
itself and lacks any merit.
Lingard has turned out to be a re-run of the evidence presented at Reading Crown Court
and the disrespect and contempt shown by Lingard towards the courts is, in my view,
absolutely unacceptable and the Report and, indeed, Mr Lingard, may now be subject to
legal intervention and possible withdrawal. The Lingard Report has thus been a waste of
WBC residents’ council tax.
On top of this, Mr Lingard has disclosed that he was briefed by WBC last year to
investigate concerns by Reading Crown Court about a shortage of evidence supplied by
WBC in the early stages of WBC’s prosecution of HHS. I have been advised – and
surprised - that last year’s report by Mr Lingard is not available because it never existed.
In short, Mr Lingard’s independence - fundamental to the integrity and credibility of his
investigation - has been materially compromised.
The present report contains over 300 redactions ostensibly to protect the identification of
the individuals involved. The redactions are absurd and pointless because the Officials
are identifiable by their job titles and their personal identities are shown on the WBC

8

website. The Councillors are equally easily identifiable. But, far more significantly, 11
complete paragraphs of evidence mainly from two Councillors, Mr Halsall and Mr Kaiser,
have been deleted from the original Report delivered to WBC in July. Either they, or WBC,
or both are determined that the whole truth should not be made known.
Whilst these 11 redactions remain in place, the Lingard Report is worthless because
everybody else - be they members of this Council, the officials and staff who run WBC,
and the residents of the Borough – are prevented from knowing what Mr Halsall and Mr
Kaiser clearly regard as something which must be kept secret.
Having put the issue into its appropriate context, here is my question:
Bearing in mind:
 Mr Lingard’s disclosure of his investigation last year leads inevitably to conclude his
independence has been compromised, and,
 The 300-plus redactions and 11 redacted paragraphs, will the Leader of the Council
accept the only possible conclusion that the Lingard Report should be scrapped and
be replaced by a properly independent and law-respecting investigation into
maladministration and misconduct in WBC’s handling of its prosecution of HHS?
Answer
Thank you very, very, much for that very, very, long question.
My short response is that I do not accept that the Lingard Report should be scrapped.
You make some serious allegations about Mr Lingard’s independence and state that his
report is unlawful, both of which the Council would strongly refute.
As one of the residents who expressed concerns about the Court of Appeal judgement the
Council has worked closely with you, and at length, from the start of the year which has
included you meeting with the Chief Executive and also speaking to Mr Lingard during his
review. The Council has endeavoured to be open with you and listened to your concerns
and at no time prior to you reading Mr Lingard’s report did you raise concerns about his
independence.
You question Mr Lingard’s independence because of his involvement in the review of the
email searches conducted towards the end of 2017, a fact which he discloses himself in
the report in Section 14(3).
The two tasks that he undertook for the Council were entirely separate from each other
and stood alone, and in reaching his conclusions on the Hare Hatch matter he placed no
reliance on his conclusions in relation to the earlier matter. The Monitoring Officer has
spoken with Mr Lingard who confirms this.
With regard to redactions in the report, the Council has a duty of care to protect the
personal information of its staff. This is standard practice but I acknowledge that this
makes it slightly more difficult to read the report. However, to call it “worthless” is an
exaggeration. Please acknowledge that the Executive Summary of the report is not subject
to any redaction and transparently sets out a balance of conclusions including the learning
of lessons in terms of procedure and, in particular, the proper documentation of
negotiations and the management of complex cases. These lessons are valuable to the
Council and will help us to improve our management of similar cases in the future.

9

Supplementary Question
Mr Lingard wrote in paragraph14.8 on page 36 “It became clear to me during the course of
my enquiries that none of the Councillors professed or indeed had any knowledge of
planning law and procedure”.
You say you were doing your best in the press releases being issued to resolve the
planning and enforcement issues of your constituent but the courts were overwhelmingly
convinced that you and your colleagues were part of an unfair and unjust set of actions,
conduct and behaviour and Mr Lingard found that you had no knowledge of planning law
and procedure. Then you have insisted that key elements of your investigation interviews
should be kept secret. Your defence of your conduct, such that it is, is in tatters.
Accordingly it is difficult to avoid the conclusion that you are unfit to uphold the integrity of
the position you hold as Council Leader and Councillor Kaiser as your deputy. Under such
circumstances will you and Councillor Kaiser tell me and the Members present tonight, and
the residents of the Borough, why you should be seriously considering standing down as
Leader and Deputy Leader?
Supplementary Answer
As this is in effect an affair of the Monitoring Officer he will give you a reply in writing.
37.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chairman invited Members to submit
questions to the appropriate Members
37.1 Chris Smith had asked the Executive Member for Finance and Housing the
following question but as he was unable to attend the meeting the answer
below will be sent to him:
Question
Can the Executive Member provide an update on the annual audit?
Answer
The Council published its draft accounts on 31 May 2019 in accordance with statutory
deadlines. There then followed a period of audit by Ernst & Young (EY), the Council’s
appointed auditors. This was due to complete by 31 July 2019, when the audited accounts
would be published. Unfortunately, due to circumstances outside of both the Council’s and
EY’s control, concerning the audit of the Royal Berkshire Pension Fund, EY were not able
to ‘sign-off’ the accounts by 31 July 2019. All other aspects of the audit have been
completed satisfactorily.
There are no consequences or implications on the Council for this delay, which is outside
of our control and will clearly impact on all Berkshire Unitary Authorities.
The accounts for 2018/19 as at 31 July 2019 have been published on the Council’s
website, with an explanation as to why they are still unsigned.

10

37.2 Gary Cowan asked the Executive Member for Planning and Enforcement the
following question:
Question
At the Planning Committee on the 14th of August, various decisions were taken which had
links to car parking and electric vehicle charging. For example at Matthew's Green for 16
residential units the provision was only 11 of which two were disabled and I expect two
more to be electric vehicle charging and if so that will only leave 7 parking bays for 16
residential units.
As an aside to this menial provision at Matthews Green two planning applications by
Wokingham Council itself on school sites no provision has been made for electric vehicle
charging. Is this one rule for residents and a different one for the Council’s own Planning
Applications which conflicts with the Council’s so called climate emergency planning?
Answer
All planning applications, as you know, recommended for approval, whether they are
private or Council developments, are considered against the Council’s adopted and
emerging guidance; including its parking standards. All Council schemes require approval
by the Council’s Planning Committee which would ensure consistency on these matters.
The Council’s emerging guidance on Electric Vehicle (EV) states:
E6 - For non-residential land uses including employment, leisure, education and retail,
EV charging points will also be required. Land uses with shorter stays such as leisure
and retail should consider rapid chargers. Where they are active, the EV parking bays
will need to be marked out and signed. The following minimum levels of provision will
be required if there is car parking:
•
passive and active one charging point for every 20 spaces;
•
5% of the car parking spaces to be passive and 5% active for purposes of
more than 20 spaces.
In addition to this, further EV charging information and guidance is becoming available
from Central Government and the Department for Transport. As the Council is
progressing, as you know, the Local Plan we will be looking at and will be updating and
have the opportunity to review the current parking and EV charging requirements.
The parking provision for the Matthews Green scheme, being referenced, was discussed
on the night of the Committee and clarification was given around the provision of disabled
parking, which is located within the retail area and not in the residential element. In
respect to EV charging the following condition was applied to accommodate this:
“Prior to the first occupation of the residential units, details of electric vehicle
charging within the local centre car park shall be submitted to the Council for written
approval. The details as approved shall be installed prior to first occupation, and
shall be maintained thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council.”
Supplementary Question
Looking at the request for climate advice in the press today and IMD 26, which I am very
pleased to say was postponed to 2 October instead of earlier on this evening, I am hoping
that my supplementary will be considered helpful.

11

Where I have difficulty is getting my head around is the EU legislation which goes back to
July 2018 and as we are in a climate emergency the building blocks that are available for
us to use are the Building Regulations and planning changes now and not tomorrow to
affect changes other planning authorities have already done. This report, the Executive
decision which is delayed to next week, it goes on to say that the saving installing a retrofit
situation for a charging point the saving is £1,000 against a retrofit which is over £2,000. If
all goes to plan from now until 2026 we are scheduled to build another 5,600 houses. If
we use the guidelines set out in the IMD 26 report only 300 houses will have unplugged
charging points and the other 5,300 will not.
From 2026-2030 when we will be carbon neutral we will build another 4,000 odd houses
and only 800 of those will have unplugged charging points.
My question is if we follow the schedule how does this delayed introduction fit in with
climate neutral 2030 when the occupants of about 9,500 houses will not have unplugged
charging and will cost them about £2k a plot to get it? Will that encourage them to buy an
electric car? Is this not an opportunity, this report here which is Executive IMD26 that is
being dealt with next week, to rewrite IMD26 to further the Council’s aims and ambitions in
its climate change emergency planning?
Supplementary Answer
I think you are absolutely right Gary and I think the emerging Local Plan, as we have got
another major issue on that which is parking standards, we do need to consider that and I
agree with you the sooner we get the detail out I think anything we can do that will help get
to carbon neutral because that is not going to be an easy task being carbon neutral by
2030. Having spent the last 20 years in energy efficiency I know how difficult it is. But I do
agree. I think it is something that we are going to have to seriously look at and get
provision in all of our new houses to have that.
37.3 Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey asked the Executive Member for Finance and
Housing the following question:
Question
Why is Wokingham Housing Ltd using a private company for building regulations rather
than WBC Building Regulations?
Answer
As a commercial company WHL need to ensure value for money and performance delivery
across all areas of work.
Initially WHL employed WBC Building Control Shared Services on all projects. However in
2018, we have agreed recently with WBC Building Control to change their approach and to
seek a quote on a project by project basis with WBC Building Control invited to quote on
each occasion. All quotes received are then assessed against an agreed criteria and in
line with current procurement policies and procedures, to ensure the best possible value
for money is secured.
That said we are constantly looking at services offered by the Council with a view to
utilising those services and provided they do not disadvantage either the operating
company or the Council, operationally or financially, we will use these services as
delivered by the Council. This will allow us to exploit the synergies which exist between our
wholly owned companies and the Council.

12

Supplementary Question
Well I have spoken to the Head of Building Regulations for WBC. It would be very nice to
fund and adequately staff this group so therefore we could have something. What are you
doing to improve the WBC Building Regulations department to make it more efficient and
more cost effective for Council owned companies so they do not spend their money
elsewhere other than on our own Council services?
Supplementary Answer
We are doing a review of our house building activity at the moment and I will be
announcing a strategy in the not too distant future and that will include using parts of their
Council to provide services such as administration and invoicing. One of the areas that we
will be looking at is Building Control and what we need to do to be able to use that service.
As I say we are going to be looking at it and deciding what we need in the way of
resources to enable us to use this service.
37.4 Lindsay Ferris asked the Leader of the Council the following question:
Question
A Council should be prepared to provide its residents with information on all areas of its
activity including those that show the Council in a poor light as well as those that show
good practice.
It has come to my attention that WBC are now selectively deciding which documentation
(relating to WBC actions and areas of responsibility) it puts on to its website. Can the
Council advise how this has been allowed to happen?
Answer
Thank you for your question although it is not entirely clear whether you are making a
general point or referring to something in particular?
Correct me if I’m wrong but you may be referring to the recent independent review of the
Council’s planning enforcement actions against Hare Hatch Sheeplands over a period
which we both undertook together. The Council published a press release on 27 August
which set out the findings of the review and quoted Mr Lingard’s report where he
concluded: “That the Council did not, either through its elected Members or its Officers,
induce Mr Scott (either by intentional design or default) to act to his detriment by
withdrawing his appeal against an enforcement notice.” The press release also
acknowledged some training needs which are being actioned.
Therefore, I would refute your assertion that the Council has been selective or unbalanced
in what it published. It is not normal practice to publish reports such as this on our website.
However, can I also add that those residents who either expressed concerns about this
matter or requested Mr Lingard’s report have been provided a copy of this report.
Supplementary Question
At the time of submitting my question neither of the appeal court judgements, the June
2018 or January 2019, cases relating to Hare Hatch Sheeplands were on our websites.
The Lingard report, which you have just declared is available for residents but they have to
know it is available to ask for it. Thirdly another document which I cannot find on the

13

website is an Employment Tribunal where a previous member of staff has successfully had
a case for when she was working here. I cannot find them on our website.
All four documents show the Council to have not performed properly. I would like to know
how the Council is going to improve if it is not prepared to publish documentation which
actually puts it into a poor light? Could I have answers to that please?
Supplementary Answer
I have no detailed knowledge of how the website works in fact it is a mystery to me and
everybody of my age. However I do not think that the assertion that the Council is hiding
information is a reasonable assertion but I am prepared to look into it and come back to
you.
37.5 Clive Jones asked the Leader of the Council the following question:
Question
As the Council has declined to respond to an FOI request on this topic.
Can the Council advise me what actions they have taken in relation to preparing for a nodeal Brexit? Could this include any impacts on the provision of services to our local
residents and any actions that may need to be performed by the Council should this event
actually happen?
Answer
I think I covered that in the speech at Council but I will reiterate it. Yellowhammer was
restricted. In fact it was so restricted that I did not even know that we were working on it
ourselves. In light of the Government releasing those details the Council has shared more
information on its preparations.
The Council has established an Officer group of managers from across the authority to
plan for Brexit. The group is now meeting weekly and that has been escalated. It is a
matrix of a Government resilience planning and it actually started prior to the March date,
as I said in Council.
The range of subject areas that the Council is preparing for includes (but not limited to):
 Supply chain disruption – school meals, personal protective equipment etc;
 Staffing – possible loss of staff originating from the EU27 (social care and RE3 have
been identified as having the highest exposure to date);
 Data – potential that we are unable to access our own data on data stored within
the EU;
 Major Projects – potential for construction projects to be delayed or over budget due
to supply chain and currency fluctuations;
 Regulation – Trading Standards/food safety and environmental protection –
possible capacity issues due to additional work required.
The planning environment has now included, as I announced at Council, Pauline and I and
as we come nearer the date and, the event if it occurs then, that will be extended to the
Opposition Members.
Supplementary Question
I am sorry I missed the Council meeting where you talked about this. Do you think that the
Council has been properly resourced by Central Government to cope with “no deal”?

14

Supplementary Answer
Let me answer that question by really posing a question to you. It is the same as a
question I posed to myself. We are not really in the forefront of the problems that might
occur and therefore yes probably but I will not know until we completely elaborate the
planning and what the planning without a withdrawal agreement means because there is a
lot of very loose talk about what “no deal” means. But there is no such thing as “no deal”
because there is a structure of agreements which are already there. So to answer your
question completely we need to establish what the environment is which we are dealing
with at the time and at the moment we are not that clear. If it happens at all.
Councillor Jones asked the following additional question:
It was interesting that you said that Yellowhammer was restricted so did you not know
what was happening?
Councillor Halsall responded as follows:
You have asked a supplementary question did I know what was happening? I knew as
much as you did quite honestly but I think that the Officers who were also restricted in the
information that they could share even with myself have done a typically excellent job in
filling out the blanks so we are not without a response if a response is needed.
37.6 Pauline Jorgensen asked the Executive Member for Adult Social Services the
following question:
Question
How do we monitor how satisfied our residents are with the service they get from WBC?
Answer
We have many ways in which we monitor this. A comments/feedback sheet is sent to
customers with all completed assessments including carers assessments, reassessments
and reviews. There is a quarterly report on the feedback both positive and areas for
improvement. Mental health service, joint health and social care, have a ‘friends and
family’ scheme to invite and gather feedback.
In addition to this there is an annual survey for all Adult Social Care customers; it is a
Government requirement that we have to carry this out. This includes two areas: overall
satisfaction and feeling safe. Satisfaction results from the last survey for the financial year
18/19 showed that 67.1% of customers said they were extremely or very satisfied. The
national average was 65%. For feeling safe for the same period 74% and the national
average is 69.9%.
Although these are good scores there is obviously room for improvement and we are
working to get these figures into the top quartile nationally through our improvement plans
in the Department.
Supplementary Question
Are there any plans you would like to share about how you will monitor progress and share
this information about performance going forward?
Supplementary Answer
It is something I am very conscious of. Basically there are obviously financial pressures in
this department as there are in all but we have got to make sure that not only do we

15

respond to things basically quickly but the quality of response is correct and we have a
monthly session with myself and the Director of Adult Social Care. We go through the 16
key criteria to make sure they are all going in the right way and when they are not that we
are taking immediate corrective action.
So we are very keen to improve this and keep moving forward.
37.7 UllaKarin Clark asked the Executive Member for Climate Emergency the
following question:
Question
Please could the Executive Member for Climate Emergency provide me with an update on
the changes to the Blue Badge scheme, including progress on processing new
applications?
Answer
Some people might not know that Customer Service falls under my remit which is why I
am answering this question.
Changes in Blue Badge legislation mean that applicants can consider applying for a Blue
Badge if they have a non-visible or hidden condition, which causes them to severely
struggle with journeys between a vehicle and their destination. Applications are assessed
by considering individual needs, alongside supplementary information submitted by the
applicant. If there is not enough evidence to initially support their application, we will
request further information from them.
Since launch, on 30 August, we have seen an additional 52 applications in the first week
and a further 23 in the second week. Currently, these cases are taking approximately two
weeks to process as the team are working hard to absorb the increases alongside the
standard applications, with 175 applications in total received in this two week period.
Of all the cases we have referred to the Occupational Therapist so far three badges have
been awarded immediately under the Hidden Disability criteria. The Occupational
Therapist is unable to fully determine most applications until additional professional
supplementary evidence is supplied, as per the DfT guidelines. We are giving people up to
20 days to supply this.
We are now entering into a period of increasing contact from applicants. They are
providing us with further evidence so that we can consider their cases and request
supplementary information if we initially determine that we need it.
To date we have not received any negative comments or feedback from customers. Our
targeted and clear communications before launch have helped immensely to educate and
guide people through this process.
I would add to this that the Officers responsible for delivering this were not given a huge
amount of guidance from the DfT and were not given a huge amount of time to deliver
against this expectation so the fact that they have been able to deliver this without
complaint so far from our residents, process all of these additional applications with the
team that they have got is absolutely superb and they deserve all of our compliments and
all of our congratulations for doing it.

16

37.8 Charles Margetts asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the
following question:
Question
Climate change, and the recently recognised climate emergency, is a major concern of our
times. What action is Cllr Clark, our Lead Member for Children’s Services, taking to ensure
that the voice of our children and young people are heard?
Answer
I am pleased to announce that Children’s Services have employed a Project Support
Officer for Climate Emergency. Her name is Ellen Lucas and she will be with us for 3 days
a week for six months working with schools, children and young people to engage them in
working towards the Council’s vision to be a carbon-neutral authority by 2030. She
recently graduated from the University of York with a BA in History and Philosophy and
has worked as a lead mentor for the National Citizens Service as well as working with
migrants and refugees at Refugee Action York and volunteering in South African
townships teaching amongst other things: first aid, health and computer. She is passionate
about the climate change agenda and I’m sure you will join me in welcoming her to the
role.
I think it is fantastic that we have been able to do this because as we all know who have
children they never listen to us so it is more likely that with somebody closer in age to
young people there will be more engagement.
38.
SHAREHOLDERS' REPORT
(Councillors UllaKarin Clark, John Halsall, John Kaiser, Charles Margetts, Stuart Munro
and Wayne Smith declared personal interests in this item)
The Executive considered a report setting out the budget monitoring position and an
operational update for the period to 31 July 2019.
The Executive Member for Finance and Housing introduced the report and highlighted that
WHL had so far built 145 homes and there were currently 72 units on site or about to start
on site. In addition WHL was working on a further 254 units on previously identified sites.
Councillor Kaiser went through the budget monitoring position of WHL which showed that
the full year income was expected to reach just under £4m. The full year operating loss
was expected to be £224k, which included the loan repayment of £1m to the Council. The
full year loss was therefore expected to be £48k negative to budget.
Councillor Kaiser advised that in relation to Loddon Homes they had a full year expected
income of £1.7m with profits of £475k, which reflected a £62k positive variance.
Looking at Berry Brook Homes they were expecting a full year income of £646k with a
profit of £464k which reflected a £101k positive variance against budget.
Councillor Margetts highlighted the budget position of Optalis, as set out in the report, and
reminded Members that statutory services were due to be transferred from Optalis back to
the Council, as previously agreed by the Executive, and this was running to schedule. The
TUPE consultation was underway and it was expected that staff would transfer on 1
November. It was noted that this would provide the opportunity to have a one care
pathway for all Wokingham residents and improve the quality of service offered.

17

In addition Optalis was resetting the governance structure of the company which would be
slimmed down to give more control to the Executive and Officers and react quicker to
things happening in the marketplace. Recruitment of a new CEO was underway and the
strategy of the Company would be focussed on efficiency, quality and innovation rather
than growth.
RESOLVED that:
1)

the budget monitoring position for the month ending 31 July 2019 be noted;

2)

the operational update for the period to 31 July 2019 be noted.

39.
TWYFORD COMMUNITY HUB BUSINESS CASE
The Executive considered a report relating to a proposal to relocate Twyford Library to the
Old Polehampton Boys’ School.
The Executive Member for Regeneration advised Members that the purpose of this report
was to get the go ahead to bid for capital funds to proceed with the relocation of the
existing Twyford Library following which a planning application would be submitted.
Councillor Haitham Taylor confirmed that discussions were ongoing with the Polehampton
Trust to secure the lease for the site and it was expected that a deal would be entered into
that would secure the building whilst meeting the aims of the Trust which were to promote
education for the residents of the parish of Twyford.
RESOLVED that:
1)

the relocation of the Twyford Library to the Old Polehampton Boys’ School site
continue to be supported;

2)

the financial assessment, including the potential for a £640k capital bid in 2020/21
and the expected benefits for residents, be noted;

3)

a further report will be received by the Executive detailing the proposed lease
arrangements with the Polehampton Trust for its approval.

40.
ARBORFIELD COMMUNITY FACILITY OPERATOR
The Executive considered a report setting out the proposal for the Finchampstead Baptist
Church (FBC) to be the preferred operator for the new community facility being provided
as part of the necessary infrastructure for the Arborfield Strategic Development Location.
The Executive Member for Planning and Enforcement explained that FBC was chosen as
the preferred operator as they were already doing a fantastic job at another community
site. The reason for getting the FBC in early was so that they could start working with the
SDL Team and Crest Nicholson to play an integral role in the design and delivery of the
new community facility.
Councillor Kaiser stated that the FBC already had a large operation in Finchampstead and
queried whether any commitment on time had been agreed as he would not want them to
come back at a later stage and state that they were having difficulty running two centres.
Councillor Smith confirmed that extensive discussions had taken place between the FBC,
in conjunction with the local Parish Council and Churches on the Green, and the feeling

18

was that this would not be an issue. He also drew Members’ attention to the second
recommendation which stated that the Executive would receive a report on the specific
terms of agreement and if it was felt that the FBC could not cope with both facilities there
would be an opportunity to pull out then.
Councillor Haitham Taylor was pleased that the FBC had come forward to run the facility
however she wanted to ensure that the building would be accessible and welcoming for
everybody in the community and would be affordable for all who wished to make use of the
facility. Councillor Smith confirmed that during discussions all those areas had been
covered.
RESOLVED that:
1)

Finchampstead Baptist Church be the preferred operator for the new community
facility within the Arborfied Strategic Development Location, subject to agreement of
the terms of lease;

2)

a report will be received by the Executive at a later date recommending the specific
terms of formal agreement with the Finchampstead Baptist Church to operate the
community facility within the Arborfield Strategic Development Location.

41.

PROCUREMENT BUSINESS CASE – SCHOOLS MANAGEMENT
INFORMATION SYSTEM
The Executive considered a report relating to a proposal to procure a Schools
Management Information System for schools and academies in the Borough which would
provide a range of functions including pupil database, assessment, Special Education
Needs, personnel, financial management etc.
The Executive Member for Children’s Services advised that the present contract was due
to end in March 2020 and could not be extended. A consultation had been undertaken
with schools and academies and they had indicated that they wished the Council to again
organise a central procurement.
RESOLVED that:
1)

the commencement of the procurement for a Schools Management Information
System (required as the total value of the contract will be over £500k) be agreed;

2)

once a suitable system has been procured the decision to award the contract be
delegated to the Director for Children’s Services, in consultation with the Lead
Member for Children’s Services.

19

This page is intentionally left blank

EXECUTIVE ACTION SHEET
DATE OF MINUTE QUESTIONER
SUBJECT
MEETING NUMBER
26/9/19
36.1
Philip
The Lingard Report
Meadowcroft

ACTION/RESPONSE
The following response has been sent to Mr
Meadowcroft:

STATUS
Complete

21

“With regard to paragraph 14.8 of the report,
Mr Lingard was seeking to differentiate
between the role of Councillors in
representing their residents and the role of
the officer with professional qualifications,
experience and expertise in their chosen
field. Mr Lingard was asked to consider
whether there was any evidence that any
Councillor involved in the case may have
breached the Councillor Code of Conduct.
Mr Lingard confirmed that he had not found
any such evidence.

26/9/19

37.4

Lindsay Ferris

Publication of
documents on the
Council’s website

In the light of Mr Lingard’s findings,
Councillors Halsall and Kaiser have
confirmed that they will not be standing
down from their respective positions.”
The following response has been sent to
Councillor Ferris:
“I am writing in response to your
supplementary question at Executive on 26
September in which you enquired about the
publication of documents on the Council’s
website such as the Lingard report.
I have made further enquiries and would
respond as follows:-

Complete

EXECUTIVE ACTION SHEET






22

The Council’s website has a page
where all “Plans, Policies and
Strategies” are published in one
place – you can find it here Plans,
policies and strategies - Wokingham
Borough Council
The above forms part of a wider
publication of “Open Data and
Transparency” which includes data
sets, performance information, and
financial information about our
companies – the link is here Open
data and transparency
“News and Consultation” information
can be found here News and
consultation - Wokingham Borough
Council For example, the news
release on the Lingard Report can
found in this section Council cleared
in Hare Hatch Sheeplands planning
enforcement investigation Wokingham Borough News Centre

Notwithstanding the above, I have asked
Andrew Moulton, Monitoring Officer, to look
into how we might improve further the way
in which the website is used to publish these
types of information comparing our
approach to other authorities.”

Agenda Item 47.
TITLE

Revenue Budget Monitoring report FY2019/20 Quarter 2

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on Thursday, 31 October 2019

WARD

None specific

LEAD OFFICER

Deputy Chief Executive - Graham Ebers

LEAD MEMBER

Executive Member for Finance and Housing - John
Kaiser

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES)
The Council agrees and sets its budget in February for the following financial year and
this report seeks to update Executive on the budget position throughout the year and
provide an estimate of the outturn position at year-end (31 March 2020)
RECOMMENDATION
That the Executive:
1)

note the current position of the revenue budget to date;

2)

note the forecast of outturn and the projected level of balances in respect of the
General Fund;

3)

are asked to recommend to the Constitution Review Working Group that future
spend approval of available S106 developer contributions in relation to the
Council’s My Journey travel programme can be approved through Individual
Executive Member Decisions;

4)

are asked to approve an in year supplementary estimate of £630k in relation to
increased pressure for legal support and additional workload from planning
appeals and note additional pressures for future years of £320k in 20/21 and
£170k in 21/22.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This report is to allow the Executive to note the current expenditure to date (as at 30
September 2019) for the first 6 months of the current financial year and to inform the
Executive of the forecast outturn positions for 2019/20 for the Council’s net revenue
expenditure, its General Fund Balance (GFB), the Housing Revenue Account (HRA),
and the Schools’ Block funding.
The Executive has agreed to consider Revenue Monitoring Reports on a quarterly basis.
In February 2019 the Council agreed and set its net General Fund (Revenue) budget at
£134.281 million; following year end, this is to be further adjusted to account for agreed
carry forward of budget and approved supplementary estimates. This gives a working
budget for each of the Council’s Directorates. The working budgets, spend to date and
forecast outturn are shown below

23

Directorate

Approved
(working)
budget

2019/20 - net budget position
- as at 30 September 2019
Spend to
%age
Forecast
date
budget
outturn
(Qtr 2)
spent
to date

Variance
of
outturn

£,000

£,000

%

£,000

£,000

Adult Social Services

£50,057

£21,231

42%

£50,057

£0

Chief Executive

£8,639

£3,883

45%

£8,691

£52

Children’s Services

£31,186

£15,181

49%

£32,518

£1,332

Corporate Services

£11,915

£2,666

22%

£11,465

(£450)

Customer and
Localities

£34,673

£18,159

52%

£34,673

£0

Net Expenditure
Total

£136,470

£61,120

£137,404

£934

Details of the outturn forecast position and variances are also shown at Appendix A. The
main items of variance identified to date are:
Adult Social Services – While the current forecast assumes a break even position for
ASC a number of increasing risks have been identified, in particular price uplifts for
providers and higher than anticipated Older People demand. Work is underway to
investigate and review the impact on forecast assumptions.
Chief Executive – One off costs of £52k due to redundancy costs.
Children’s Services – Overspend of £1.332m. The main areas of overspends include
children in care placements, where increased demand and complexity of cases has led
to an increase in spend on expensive residential and semi-independent placements.
Pressures in legal costs, where an increase in cases entering the court system
combined with a small number of complex cases and rising costs of commissioning QCs
and experts has led to increased costs. Home to school transport continues to be a
pressure for the Council and in staffing, where there is a higher than anticipated use of
agency staff;
A number of areas have been identified for further investigation or action:
1. Staffing: Action is being taken to reduce the number of agency staff. Seek further
detail on the in-year benefit of this work.
2. Placements: Review of the assumptions for the current forecast to ensure it takes
account of higher cost placements not needed for the full year and potential
placement moves.
3. Legal Costs: Review of the forecast figure to ensure it takes account of a small
number of cases being unusually complex and unlikely to be repeated in-year.

24

4. Home to School Transport: Confirm the impact of an additional 50 requests
received at the start of the school year. Analyse of the costs of transport of
children with Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) and those in the
mainstream.
5. Budget Forecast Review: Line by Line review of budgets to identify any areas of
potential non-essential spend not yet included in the forecast.
Corporate Services – £450k of additional income from commercial properties. Returns
greater than budgeted. Savings also expected from debt management costs due to
delayed borrowing.
Customer and Localities – Whilst the current forecast assumes a break even position for
Customer and Localities, this is dependent on the supplementary estimate being
agreed. Other pressures which are currently being managed within the directorate
budget include pressures in Customer Delivery, relating to impact of year on year
demographic growth not being reflected in front-line staffing levels. Options are being
looked at with regards to technology improvements which will aim to reduce the impact
on staffing costs longer term. One off pressures on postage costs in Income and
Assessments as a result of delay to moving to online billing which we are working to
resolve in-year. Planning Fee income is currently forecast to be less than budgeted,
reflecting current market conditions and lack of large site applications coming forward.
Taking account of the overspends above and the effect of the supplementary estimates,
the balance on the General Fund as at 31 March 2020 is estimated to be £8.493 million.
See Appendix B.
Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
The HRA is currently forecasting a nil variance against planned spend of £962k in
relation to housing repairs and general management costs. The balance on the HRA
reserve is forecast to be £1.821 million at 31st March 2020. See appendix C for further
detail.
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
Shortfalls in the level of the Dedicated Schools Grant funding from central government
continue to cause a pressure for both the Council and its maintained schools. Particular
concern is the High Needs Block and the Home to School Transport. The Council is
predicting to carry forward a deficit on the HNB (which is permitted) of £2.973 million. A
turnaround and recovery plan is being developed with the DfE to not only prevent this
from increasing annually, but will eventually reduce the ongoing deficit.
Investment balances
The Council’s treasury portfolio has investment balances of just under £97 million as at
the end of the quarter. Predicted interest on this portfolio is forecast to be £0.735 million
by year-end. The portfolio is managed (in order of priority) with consideration for the
security of funds, the liquidity of the cash and to provide a return on investment. Thus
security and liquidity outweigh the need to make a return.

25

MTFP outlook
There are funding pressures in years 2 and 3 of the current MTFP that are being
addressed, An MTFP refresh has been completed and work on the next three-year
financial plan is progressing in accordance with the agreed timetable.
Recommendation 3 - My Journey Funding
The Executive are asked to recommend to the Constitution Review Working Group that
it is agreed that future spend approval of available S106 developer contributions in
relation to the Council’s My Journey travel programme can be approved through
Individual Executive Member Decisions.
S106 approval for spend over £100k is to be agreed by the Executive as per finance
regulation 12.1.17.3. In July 2015, the Executive agreed to S106 funding to be used for
the Council’s My Journey travel programme up to the value of £263k per year.
Availability of developer funding has increased above the £263k annual limit and due to
the nature of the funding being ring fenced, officers are seeking that the Executive agree
to delegate future “My Journey” spend approval to Individual Executive Member
Decisions rather than full Executive. Spend in any financial year will not be allowed to
exceed the available S106 resources.
My Journey is a behaviour change programme which promotes active and sustainable
travel in order to reduce single occupancy car use. My Journey exists because it is a
more effective way to encourage active and sustainable travel for our new residents
than developers implementing travel plans through the planning system. With the
Council coordinating the programme, the My Journey team can target not only new
homes where residents travel from but also the places where residents travel too, such
as schools, workplaces, town centres and train stations.
The four objectives of the programme are:
 To encourage active and sustainable travel in our local communities, to promote
the health and well-being of all our residents, improve local air quality, improve
road safety and reduce the level of congestion on our highway network
 To encourage active and sustainable travel to schools, colleges & other
educational facilities to promote the health, well-being and independence of our
young people and improve local air quality.
 To work with businesses to encourage active and sustainable travel for journeys
to and from workplaces, in order to attract and retain talented employees,
encourage business investment and reduce the impact of business travel on the
local highway network.
 To improve & encourage active and sustainable travel to our town & local centres
and public transport interchanges in order to improve the reliability of journeys
and provide high quality alternative ways of travel to the private car.
My Journey is funded from S106 funds provided by developers and can only be spent
on mitigating the impact of car travel through the My Journey programme. The funding is
used to support the staffing costs of the team, as well as resources and the delivery of
activities. The S106 contribution continues to be collected in lieu of travel plans for new
developments, but it still remains optional for developers. Key trends linked to the
success of the programme so far include:

26





Bus travel continuing to grow with a 4% increase in Wokingham compared to just
1% in the South East region (2017/18 DfT)
The number of adults reporting that they cycle at least once a week has
increasing by 7% in 2018/19 compared to the previous year (NHT)
The number of adults reporting that they walk at least once a week has
increasing by 5% in 2018/19 compared to the previous year (NHT)

Some of the key intervention successes are:
 16 schools logging over 20,800 journeys on foot, scooter or cycle in a two week
period for the big pedal,
 over 1700 children being trained in bikeability, with the level 2 pass rate
increasing by 2% compared to 2017/18,
 36% growth in number of hits / visitors to our My Journey website since April
2019
 38% growth in the number of web hits/visitors on the Bus Information page of the
My Journey website since April 2019
 4% growth in followers on Twitter since April 2019
 4% growth in the number of Facebook followers since April 2019
Recommendation 4 - Supplementary Estimates
The Executive are asked to approve the following supplementary estimates in relation to
increased pressure for legal support and additional workload from the following planning
appeals;
Current financial year pressure 2019/20 – supplementary estimate of £630k
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Finchampstead Road - £100k
Hare Hatch - £100k
Nine Mile Ride - £100k
Cutbush Lane - £100k
The Coombes - £50k
Ravenswood - £70k
Workload pressure - £60k
Retention of counsel - £50k

Financial year 2020/21 – special item of £320k
•
Cemex - £150k
•
Workload pressure - £120k
•
Retention of counsel - £50k
Financial year 2021/22 – special item of £170k
•
Workload pressure - £120k
•
Retention of counsel - £50k
Note - For 2020/21 onwards, the appeals are not yet known with the exception of a likely
Cemex appeal. In the absence of an up to date local plan, it is expected that the number
of appeals will continue to be high and additional funding will need to be considered
during the 2020/21 budget setting.

27

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council continues to face severe financial challenges over the coming years as
a result of reductions to public sector funding and growing pressures in our
statutory services. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be required
to make budget reductions of approximately £20m over the next three years and all
Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Net budget
£136.470m
Budget gap of
£3.95 million
Budget gap of
£5.25 million

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
No – forecast o/s of
£0.934 million

Revenue or
Capital?
Revenue
Revenue
Revenue

Other Financial Information
Effective monitoring of budgets is an essential element of providing cost effective services
and enables any corrective action to be undertaken, if required. Many of the budgets are
activity driven and can be volatile in nature.
Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation
None
Public Sector Equality Duty
N/A
List of Background Papers
Appendix A – Revenue Monitoring Summary
Appendix B – General Fund Balance
Appendix C – Housing Revenue Monitoring Summary
Appendix D – Dedicated Schools Grant
Contact Mark Thompson
Telephone Tel: 0118 974 6555

Service Business Services
Email
mark.thompson@wokingham.gov.uk

28

Appendix A
REVENUE MONITORING REPORT September 2019
GENERAL FUND SUMMARY

Directorate

Budget
YTD

Year to Date Position
Actuals
Net over /
YTD
(under) spend

£,000

£,000

Current
Approved
Budget

End of Year Position
Current
Net over /
Forecast
(under) spend

£,000

£,000

£,000

Corporate Services

3,475

2,666

(810)

11,915

11,465

Chief Executive

4,278

3,883

(394)

8,639

8,691

Comment on major areas of estimated over / (underspend)

£,000

(450)

Additional income from commerical properties. Further savings expected in debt
management due to delayed external borrowing costs.

52 One off redundancy costs.

29

The main areas of overspends include children in care placements, where
increased demand and complexity of cases has led to an increase in spend on
expensive residential and semi-independent placements. Pressures in legal costs,
where an increase in cases entering the court system combined with a small
1,332
number of complex cases and rising costs of commissioning QCs and experts has
led to increased costs. Home to school transport continues to be a pressure for
the Council and in staffing, where there is a higher than anticipated use of agency
staff;

Children's Services

14,943

15,181

238

31,186

32,518

Adult Social Care

24,647

21,231

(3,415)

50,057

50,057

0

Customer and Localities Services

18,071

18,159

88

34,673

34,673

0 No material variances expected subject to approval of supplementary estimate.

Revenue Expenditure Total

65,414

61,120

(4,293)

136,470

137,404

While the current forecast assumes a break even position for ASC a number of
increasing risks have been identified, in particular price uplifts for providers and
higher than anticipated Older People demand. Work is underway to investigate
and review the impact on forecast assumptions.

934

Note
Current approved budget and current forecast do not take account of the recommended supplementary estimate of £630k in Customer and Localities.

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

Estimated General Fund Balance - 31st March '20
Note
1

£,000
General Fund Balance (as at 31/3/2019)

£,000
(£8,828)

Budgeted contributions to reserves (as per MTFP)

(£3,499)
(£3,499)

2

Supplementary Estimates
New assistant director for Highways and Transport (Jul'19 Exec)
One off costs for interim assistant director for Education (Jul'19 Exec)
Future Housing Consultation (May'19 Exec)
Planning appeal consultancy costs (Oct'19 Exec)

£70
£75
£80
£630
£855

Carry Forwards from 2018/19
Adult Social Services
Chief Executive
Children's Services
Corporate Services
Customer and Localities Services

£300
£724
£0
£891
£129
£2,044

Service Variance (including 20/21 carry forwards requests)
Adult Social Services
Chief Executive
Children's Services
Corporate Services
Customer and Localities Services

£0
£52
£1,332
(£450)
£0
£934

Estimated General Fund Balance 31/3/2020

(£8,493)

Notes
1. General balance as at 31/03/19 is taken from the unaudited statement of accounts and is subject to audit signoff
in Autumn 2019. The balance (after carry forwards) has improved from the balance estimated in the medium term
financial plan due to an improved financial outturn for 2018/19 financial year.
2. Figure is to cover part year effect for 2019/20.

31

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C
REVENUE MONITORING REPORT September 2019
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Director: S Hollamby
Lead Member, Housing Services: John Kaiser

Service

Budget
YTD

Year to Date Position
Actuals
YTD

Variance
YTD

£,000

£,000

£,000

End of Year Position
Current
Current Forecast
Approved Budget

£,000

£,000

Provisional
Variance

£,000

Expenditure
Income
Net

0
(6,487)
(6,487)

555
(7,242)
(6,687)

555
(755)
(200)

0
(13,872)
(13,872)

0
(13,872)
(13,872)

0
0
0

Fees & Charges / Capital Finance Charges

Expenditure
Income
Net

93
(63)
29

95
(113)
(18)

2
(50)
(48)

97
(125)
(28)

97
(125)
(28)

0
0
0

Housing Repairs

Expenditure
Income
Net

1,354
(15)
1,339

1,974
(63)
1,910

620
(48)
572

3,056
(30)
3,026

3,056
(30)
3,026

0
0
0

General Management

Expenditure
Income
Net

1,009
(16)
993

599
(51)
548

(410)
(36)
(445)

1,194
(31)
1,163

1,194
(31)
1,163

0
0
0

Sheltered Accommodation

Expenditure
Income
Net

117
(171)
(54)

151
(191)
(40)

34
(21)
13

267
(409)
(142)

267
(409)
(142)

0
0
0

Capital Finance

Expenditure
Income
Net

117
(30)
88

(26)
0
(26)

(143)
30
(114)

5,476
(59)
5,417

5,476
(59)
5,417

0
0
0

(4,091)

(4,314)

(223)

(4,436)

(4,436)

0

1,848

1,848

0

4,436

4,436

0

(2,243)

(2,466)

(223)

0

0

0

33

Rents

Subtotal Excluding Internal and Capital Charges
Internal and Capital Charges
Total
Housing Revenue Account Reserve
HRA Reserves as at 31st March 2019
2019/2020 Planned Spend
2019/2020 Forecast Variance
Estimated HRA balance as at 31st March 2020

£,000
(2,783)
962
0
(1,821)

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix D

REVENUE MONITORING REPORT September 2019
SCHOOLS BLOCK MONITORING REPORT
Reported to Schools Forum in October 2019

End of Year Position
Current
Current
Provisional
Approved
Forecast
Variance
Budget
£000
Schools Block including academies (excluding Dedelegation)
Early years

102,109

102,109

10,235

10,611

£000
0 No material variance identified.
376

Additional EY payments, reflecting increased block allocation as
below.

Recovery plan submitted to the DfE, action plan being delivered in
conjunction with SEND improvements. Mainly independent special
1,387
schools and top ups due to increases in the number of children, not
matched by increasing grant.

18,861

20,248

Central Schools Services Block (includes Growth Fund)

1,746

1,752

6 No material variance identified.

De-delegation

1,313

1,321

8 No material variance identified.

Other schools grant

7,204

8,220

Total Expenditure

141,468

144,261

(134,264)

(134,640)

(7,204)

(8,220)

(1,016)

(141,468)

(142,860)

(1,392)

Total in-year (surplus) / deficit

0

1,401

1,401 In Year expenditure less income

Brought Forward (surplus) / deficit balance

0

1,572

1,572 Deficit brought forward from previous years

Total Year End (Surplus) / Deficit

0

2,973

2,973

35

High needs block

£000

Comment on major areas of estimated over / (underspend)

Dedicated School Grant (DSG)
Other school Grants
Total Income

1,016 Additional expenditure as a result of additional grant income.
2,793
(376) Additional EY block grant, reflecting updated census info.
New Pension Grant to fund the increase in Teacher's pension
contribution from approx. 16% to 23% from Sept 19.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 48.
TITLE

Capital Monitoring 2019/20 - end of September
2019

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on Thursday, 31 October 2019

WARD

None Specific;

LEAD OFFICER

Deputy Chief Executive - Graham Ebers

LEAD MEMBER

Executive Member for Finance and Housing - John
Kaiser

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES)
Effective use of our capital resources to meet service investment priorities, offering
excellent value for residents’ council tax.
RECOMMENDATION
The Executive is asked to:1)
.
2)

note the quarter two position for the capital budget as set out in Appendix A to
the report, which shows a £2k variance forecast underspend against budget.
approve and note new budget adjustments in the capital programme for 2019/20,
as set out in Appendix B.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This report informs the Executive of the progress of the Council in delivering its capital
programme for the financial year 2019/20. The Executive have previously agreed to
consider Capital Monitoring Reports on a quarterly basis and this report highlights the
capital monitoring as at the end of the second quarter of the financial year (30
September 2019).
Effective monitoring of budgets is an essential element of providing cost effective
services and enables any corrective action to be undertaken, if required.

37

BACKGROUND
The forecast variance has been arrived at by analysing the actual commitments to date
and assessing how expenditure may continue to the end of the year based on the latest
information available.
BUSINESS CASE
The current approved Capital Budget is £313.124 million. It is now estimated that
£220.030 million will be spent this financial year. The remaining budget of £93.093
million will be carried forward into 2020/21.
Uncommitted Capital balances (capital resources received, but not yet allocated to the
capital programme) are currently estimated to be £0 as at 30 September 2019 (prior to
any announcement about funding cuts and on the assumption that the level of capital
receipts will be achieved). The estimated capital receipts for 2019-20 that are expected
to be received in year are £13.4 million.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council continues to face severe financial challenges over the coming years as
a result of reductions to public sector funding and growing pressures in our
statutory services. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be required
to make budget reductions of approximately £20m over the next three years and all
Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

£220.030m

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

£93.093m

Yes

Capital

Capital

Other Financial Information
None
Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation
Stakeholders should be reassured of the effective management of the Council’s
resources.
Public Sector Equality Duty
An equalities impact assessment is not required for this report.
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Jennifer Butler
Telephone Tel: 0118 974 6120

Service Business Services
Email jennifer.butler@wokingham.gov.uk

38

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT September 2019
Appendix A
Current Approved Budget
is split into:
Directorate

Notes

Chief Executive

Corporate Services

Analysis of Current Year (Yr 1)

Current
Approved
Budget

Current
Year
(Yr 1)

Next
Year
(Yr 2)

Current
Forecast

Carry
Forward

(Under) /
Overspend

£,000

£,000

£,000

£,000

£,000

£,000

1

2

2

3

4

5

Children's Services

Adult Social Care

Total

Previous quarter's carry forward total was zero. Material variances in this quarter are:
Slippage:
£728k Alexander House Refurbishment - Related to relocation of office tenants from the Carnival Pool area ahead of regeneration of the area 0
Alexander House Refurbishment works to begin imminently but expected to extend into 20/21. Full scope is still to be determined
Acceleration:
£(664)k Carnival Pool Phase 2 works - relates to continued development of Carnival Pool regeneration project

126,589

79,385

47,204

79,346

38

26,238

22,415

3,823

22,631

(218)

(2) Previous quarter's carry forward total was zero. No material variances in this quarter

126,132

101,139

24,993

95,423

5,716

Previous quarter's carry forward total was £204k. Material variances in this quarter are:
Overspend:
Investigating possible £300k overspend for Housing Repairs to vacant premises (Tenant Services) - Due to large and sustained increase in
activity mostly due to Gorse Ride South redevelopment, but also linked to an increase in movement to Housing Associations. Also more
temporary accommodation turnover - The expectation is to look to fund from HRA Reserves
Slippage:
£2.4m carry forward identified for Great Crested Newt District Level Licence - Natural England have yet to enforce mandatory requirements,
delaying spend requirement into future years.
(0) £900k Transport corridor improvements - Shepherds Hill to TVP P&R - Option Appraisal & Design in 19/20 with construction planned for 20/21
onwards,
£900k Nine Mile Ride Extension - Awaiting planning permission, detailed design with construction to follow, still issues with delivery
mechanism,
£450k Wokingham Borough Cycle Network - LSTF4 construction due to begin in Feb20 so will roll over into 20/21, forecast is only estimated,
£400k 75 London Road Refurbishment - Op Prop appointed in July 19 to deliver scheme, Consultant appointed in Aug 19 after brief agreed,
now in design with Planning app submission in Dec but not likely to be on site before April 2020,
£280k Wokingham Town Centre Regeneration Environmental Improvements - Due to go out to Tender then Forecast to be revisited, slowing of
programme to allow town centre time to recover from other recent works.

32,247

15,709

16,538

10,948

4,761

Previous quarter's carry forward total was zero. Material variances in this quarter are:
Slippage:
0 £2.1m Aborfield Primary school and £2.3m Matthews Green - Following failure of Dawnus, proposed build and spend programme is aligned to
complete buildings ready for September 2021

1,918

1,383

535

1,338

45

313,124

220,030

93,093

209,686

10,342

39
Customer and Localities Services

Comments

0 Previous quarter's carry forward total was zero. No material variances in this quarter

(2)

Notes
1) Current approved budget is made up of approved budget through the MTFP plus additional budget approved in year.
2) Current approved budget is split at the start of the year into budgeted spend in current year and spend in next year.
3) Current forecast is estimated spend in year against current year budget.
4) Carry forward is the estimated amount of current year budget which will be spent in later years.
5) (Under) / Overspend is the current year forecast plus carry forward less current year budget
See Appendix C for the value of works complete as at the end of the reporting period (i.e. September)
Please note when a negative number is shown in the Proposed Carry Forward this shows that the schemes expenditure has accelerated from the original profile of spend

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B
The council are asked to approve and note the budget adjustments in the capital
programme for 2019/20 since the quarter 1 capital monitoring.

Arborfield Cross Relief Road - £22m
£22m additional grant received from Department of Transport; this grant is ring
fenced to the Arborfield Cross Relief Road. The grant will replace the current
approved developer contribution funding on this scheme (Community Infrastructure
Levy and S106). There will be no increase to the approved budget.
Shinfield Eastern Relief Road - £9m
Bring forward £9m from future years approved MTFP budget as we are required to
passport S106 receipts received in year on to Reading University (for construction of
the road).
Tape Lane Redevelopment (build of new social housing) - £430k
Request virement of £430k to cover budget shortfall on project managed by
Wokingham Housing Ltd. The proposal is to move £430k from the Purchase of
Council Houses HRA (1 for 1) budget and is funded from Right to Buy receipts. The
initial budget shortfall is due to the project tender being £275k above the original
budget estimated build costs; this was reported in December 2018 to the Tenant and
Landlord Improvement Panel (TLIP). Later in the project there have been further
issues, including bungalow disabled adaptations; foundation issues onsite; and
service and utility connections and disconnections, resulting in a further budget
shortfall of £155k.
Foundry College Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) Enhanced Accommodation - £274k
Request virement of £274k to cover enhanced accommodation at Foundry College.
The proposal is to move £274k budget from the Southfield School expansion project,
which could not be continued because the school (which converted to an Academy)
is now in special measures.
Coppid Beech Northbound on-slip widening £200k
Bring forward £200k from the 2020/21 approved MTFP budget. The original on-slip
scheme was being funded by WBC, however there is now an opportunity to apply for
external Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) funding to contribute to its costs; the
original times scales require accelerating the programme to complete the LEP
Business Case in 2019/20.
Disabled Facilities Grant - £142k

41

£142k additional grant received from MHCLG for Disabled Facilities; this grant is ring
fenced to the Better Care Fund, and will increase the Disabled Facilities budget by
this amount.
London Road Footpath Works - £110k
£110k contribution from David Wilson Homes to design and deliver footpath works
(including creation of a shared cycle footway) on their behalf. The contribution will
increase the approved budget by £110k.
Devolved Formula Capital (DFC) ring fenced for schools - £(48k)
£48k reduction in expenditure budget to match grant income; this is due to the
schools devolved budget received from the Department for Education being less
than the amount anticipated when the budget was set.

42

Appendix C

Capital Budget (Yr1) vs Forecast Outturn vs Works Complete
120,000

101,139
100,000

80,000

95,423

79,385 79,346

60,000
50,121

40,000

43

22,415 22,631

21,300

20,000

15,709
10,948

7,125
2,151

1,383

1,338

115

0

Chief Executive

Corporate Services

Capital Budget (Yr 1)

£ 000's

Customer and Localities
Services

Current Forecast

Forecat
Outturn

Works
Complete

% Completed
in 6 months

79,346
22,631
95,423
10,948
1,338

50,121
7,125
21,300
2,151
115

63%
31%
22%
20%
9%

Children's Services

Adult Social Care

Works Complete

Chief Executive
Corporate Services
Customer and Localities Services
Children's Services
Adult Social Care

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 49.
TITLE

Peach Place Redevelopment - payment of
infrastructure contributions

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

The Executive on Thursday, 31 October 2019

WARD

Wescott;

LEAD OFFICER

Deputy Chief Executive - Graham Ebers

LEAD MEMBER

Executive Member for Regeneration - Charlotte
Haitham Taylor

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES)
The decision will secure the release of monies to help fund infrastructure projects which
contribute towards the mitigation of the impacts of the Peach Place development and
which support the wider regeneration of the town centre, ensuring that the
redevelopment scheme is sustainable and contributes to achieving the Council’s
regeneration objectives.
The decision is required to be taken by Executive following the decision of Executive in
January 2015 which agreed the principal and programme of financial contributions from
the Peach Place Redevelopment and which requested that “an updated scheme viability
appraisal to be brought back to Executive in advance of the first payment period, for
approval of the release of monies to the Local Planning Authority”.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Executive agree to the payment of monies from the Peach Place
Redevelopment to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the viability
thresholds and values identified in the Part 2 report.
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Council, in conjunction with Wilson Bowden Developments, was granted planning
consent for the redevelopment of land at Market Place, Peach Street, Rose Street and
Rose Street car park (known as “Peach Place) in March 2015 (application number
F/2014/2637). The site is currently under construction and occupation of the residential
units is expected to happen before the end of 2019.
In January 2015, and in lieu of a traditional Section 106 agreement which was not
possible to enter into as the Council is the applicant for the scheme, the Executive
approved an approach to securing financial contributions from the scheme to contribute
towards off-site scheme mitigation measures, including review and payment timescales.
The January 2015 decision required “an updated scheme viability appraisal to be
brought back to Executive in advance of the first payment period, for approval of the
release of monies to the Local Planning Authority”. The first payment period agreed was
on the occupation of the residential units and this is expected to take place by the end of
2019.

45

An updated scheme viability appraisal has been prepared and is summarised in Part 2
of this report as it is based on commercially sensitive data relating to scheme costs and
values. This report seeks approval for the value and payment of the identified financial
contribution to be paid to the Local Planning Authority.

46

BACKGROUND
The Council, in conjunction with Wilson Bowden Developments, was granted planning
consent for the redevelopment of land at Market Place, Peach Street, Rose Street and
Rose Street car park (known as “Peach Place) in March 2015 (application number
F/2014/2637). Construction of the site is nearing completion and the scheme has
delivered a high quality development in the heart of the town centre. The majority of the
retail units are now trading with a mixture of high street and local independent traders
and the new public square forms a focus point for community events and entertainment.
Occupation of the residential units is expected to happen before the end of 2019.
Planning consent for the Peach Place Redevelopment was granted before Wokingham
Borough Council adopted the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Prior to the adoption
of CIL, under normal circumstances infrastructure contributions for mitigation of a
scheme (both on and off site) were secured through a Section 106 Agreement between
the Council and the applicant. In this case, as the Council is one of the joint applicants
(and owner of the land), the standard mechanism for securing the planning related
benefits under Section 106 of the Planning Act could not be used.
Instead, a commitment to release monies to pay for off-site mitigation measures and a
programme for these payments was approved by the Council’s Executive in January
2015. Within this decision, Executive asked that “an updated scheme viability appraisal
to be brought back to Executive in advance of the first payment period, for approval of
the release of monies to the Local Planning Authority”.
The first payment period agreed was on the occupation of the residential units and this
is expected to take place by the end of 2019. This report therefore seeks approval for
the value and payment of the agreed financial contribution to be paid to the Local
Planning Authority, in line with the January 2015 Executive decision.
BUSINESS CASE
The financial appraisal which identifies the value of infrastructure contributions that can
be generated by the scheme should be seen in the context of the Council’s objectives
for Peach Place, which are not to deliver a level of financial return akin to the private
sector but rather to deliver the wider masterplan regeneration objectives for the town
centre. To deliver these wider masterplan regeneration objectives the scheme
incorporates a number of elements which are essential to the appeal and vitality of the
town centre and could create longer-term socio-economic benefits to the town, but at a
cost that does not necessarily generate direct monetary return to the developer. These
include:





Provision of appropriately-sized high-quality commercial units which contribute
to an wider range of retail operators in the town centre and help provide the
infrastructure Wokingham requires to meet the current and future needs of its
residents
The creation of a public square at Peach Place, which provides a new public
space in this area of the town centre and which will provide an area for
community events
Improved pedestrian environment within the town centre, linking the site to other
areas of the town

47




Providing a bespoke architecturally designed scheme for both commercial and
residential
Specification of high value materials, particularly in the plaza

In this context the Council has set itself a lower threshold for the percentage level of
return on Scheme Cost than which would normally be acceptable to a private developer
undertaking the scheme. The reduced threshold provides an acceptable financial return
to the Council (as developer) and also provides a contingency to the Council to help
mitigate any risks on its investment. The reduced level of return (as compared to that
expected from a private developer) is offset by the significant non-monetary benefits that
the regeneration will bring to Wokingham Town Centre.
At the time of the planning application (2014), a financial appraisal was prepared by the
applicant based on this reduced level of return, and taking into account all scheme
costs, including the costs incurred for site assembly. The value of contributions that
could be given by the applicant towards off-site infrastructure works to mitigate the
impact of the development was identified within the appraisal and was the residual value
of the scheme, once the Council’s costs including its self-imposed percentage return on
Scheme Costs has been taken into account.
The appraisal has subsequently been updated in 2019 to reflect the true costs of
construction incurred to date and other costs incurred by WBC during the construction of
the scheme. It also includes an update to the costs and values of the residential units
following the Executive decision in September 2017 for the majority of the residential
units to be operated as Key Worker Housing by Wokingham Housing Ltd. The updated
appraisal subsequently then identifies the level of mitigation contribution that can be
afforded by the scheme at this time.
The financial contribution identified includes a payment towards the provision of off-site
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) and a payment for Strategic Access
Access Monitoring and Maintenance (SAMM). These financial contributions are required
to mitigate the impact of the development upon the Thames Basin Heath Special
Protection Area and are a requirement under WBC’s obligations set out in Regulation 63
of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.
The value of the mitigation contribution is set out in Part 2 of this report as it is based on
commercially sensitive data relating to scheme costs and values.
Prioritisation of funds
The Executive is not being asked to decide how these funds are allocated to mitigation
schemes. This will be undertaken by the Council as Local Planning Authority.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council continues to face severe financial challenges over the coming years as
a result of reductions to public sector funding and growing pressures in our
statutory services. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be required
to make budget reductions of approximately £20m over the next three years and all
Executive decisions should be made in this context.

48

How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes. Included within
approved budget for
the Peach Place
redevelopment.
Yes or No

Cost identified in
Part 2

Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?
Capital

Yes or No

Other Financial Information
None
Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation
The viability appraisal will be shared with the Local Planning Authority for approval.
Public Sector Equality Duty
Due regard has been given to the Public Sector Equality Duty.
An equalities assessment has not been undertaken as the decision is purely a financial
decision based on the viability appraisal of the development.
Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
The financial values which are included within the viability appraisal submitted to the
Local Planning Authority are commercially sensitive. The value of the infrastructure
contribution is derived from these figures.
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Sarah Morgan
Telephone Tel: 0118 908 8371

Service Commercial Property
Email sarah.morgan@wokingham.gov.uk

49

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

51

This page is intentionally left blank

